STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

RECEIVED

06-02-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs. Appeal Nos. 2015AP1233,

2015AP2260,

JIMMIE JOHNSON, Milwaukee County Circuit

Court Case Nos. 2013CF3474,

2013CF4393

Defendant-Appellant,

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CLARE FIORENZA PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

BRIAN P. MULLINS Wisconsin Bar No. 1026891 1223 N. Prospect Avenue Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 Phone (414) 731-1754 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether police had probable cause to stop a vehicle driven by Jimmie Johnson and subsequently arrest him for possessing heroin.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Johnson requests oral argument on this case. Although Johnson believes this brief fully presents the issues on appeal, he does not believe that oral argument would be of marginal value and is therefore appropriate under WIS. STAT. § 809.22(2)(b).

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Mr. Johnson believes the Court's opinion in the instant case will merit publication because resolving the issues will develop the law regarding the evidence necessary for police to justify stopping a vehicle and arresting its driver after receiving a tip from an informant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jimmie Johnson was charged in a criminal complaint in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court (Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF3474) on August 2, 2013, with two counts of possessing heroin with intent to distribute on June 19, 2013, contrary to WIS.

STAT. § 961.41(1m)(d). (R1-3:1-4).1

Johnson was charged in a criminal complaint in the Milwaukee County Circuit (Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF4393) on September 24, 2013, with possessing heroin with intent to distribute, bail jumping, and resisting or obstructing an officer on September 20, 2013, contrary to WIS. STAT. §§ 961.41(1m)(d), 946.49(1)(b), and 946.41(1). (R2-2:1-9).

The cases were consolidated for pleas and sentencing. Johnson pled guilty on July 22, 2014, to one heroin count in Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF3474, one heroin count in Case No. 2013CF4393, and bail jumping; the other charges were dismissed but read-in for sentencing. (R1-50:1-37).

On October 9, 2014, the circuit court sentenced Johnson to four-years imprisonment on the heroin charge in Case No. 2013CF3474, six-years imprisonment on the heroin charge in Case No. 2013CF4393—concurrent with his sentence for Case No. 2013CF3474, and two-years imprisonment for bail jumping—concurrent with his sentences for the heroin counts. (R1-26:1-3; R2-

-

Johnson appeals from two judgments of conviction. This Court has consolidated the cases for briefing. Citations to the record in Appeal No. 2015AP1233CR, Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF3474, will be referred to as "R1." Citations to the record in Case No. 2015AP2260CR, Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF4393, will be referred to as "R2."

33:1-3). Johnson was also sentenced to four-years extended supervision in Case No. 2013CF3474, four-years extended supervision for the heroin count in Case No. 2013CF4393 – concurrent to his sentence for Case No. 2013CF3474, and two-years extended supervision for bail jumping – concurrent with count one and with Case No. 2013CF3474. (R1-26:1-3; R2-33:1-3). Johnson's total sentence is six-years imprisonment and four years of extended supervision.

Johnson filed a notice of appeal in Case No. 2013CF3474 on June 19, 2015. (R1-34:1-2).

Johnson filed a motion for postconviction relief in Case No. 2013CF4393 on June 19, 2015. (R2-36:1-12). The circuit court denied the motion on October 15, 2015. (R2-42:1-6). Johnson filed a notice of appeal in Case No. 2013CF4393 on November 2, 2015. (R2-43:1-2).

On January 19, 2016, this Court consolidated for briefing and disposition Appeal Nos. 2015AP1233CR (13CF3474) and 2015AP2260CR (13CF4393).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Circuit Court
Case 13CF3474 states that on June 19, 2013, Milwaukee police

stopped a 2002 Chevrolet Tahoe driven by Johnson. (R1-3:2). The complaint states that police stopped the car because they received a tip that the driver of the car possessed a controlled substance. (R1-3:1-2). A police dog alerted twice to the exterior driver's side of the Tahoe.

Police then obtained a search warrant for the vehicle, and the dog alerted to the center console area. Police searched the console and seized 136 bindles of heroin wrapped inside a sock. (R1-3:3). The total weight of the heroin was 14 grams. (R1-3:3). Johnson was charged with possessing between 10 to 50 grams of heroin with intent to distribute. (R1-3:1-3).

Johnson filed a motion to suppress all items seized from his car because the police stopped the car without probable cause or reasonable suspicion. He argued that the search warrant was therefore the fruit of the improper stop. (R1-7:1-3).

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing regarding the motion to suppress on March 13, 2014. West Allis Police Detective Nick Stachula testified that on June 13, 2013, he spoke to a citizen witness when she walked into the West Allis Police Department to report a package she suspected contained narcotics. (R1-44:6). The

informant told police that she parked her car in the Chuck E. Cheese parking lot on Highway 100 in West Allis and saw a Crown Royal satchel on the ground near the car parked next to her. (R1-44:8). Trudeau said she picked up the bag, opened it and saw a plastic baggie with a number of "aluminum foil folds." (R1-44:8).

The informant told police that she then went into the Chuck E. Cheese restaurant and observed a man walk from the Pet World and enter the car near where the bag was found around 1:45 p.m. (R1-44:9, 38). She said the man initially drove away, but then drove back to the parking lot and started "circling around" and "appeared to be looking for something." (R1-44:9). The informan told police that the man got out of the car, looked around, got back in the car and then drove away. (R1-44:10).

The informant described the driver of the car as a black male in his 20's, approximately 5'8" to 5'9", light to medium complexion, and weighing 200 pounds. (R1-44:12). The informant said he wore a black t-shirt and black shorts. (R1-44:12).

After the informant spoke to police by telephone, she went to the West Allis police department on June 13, 2013, with the Crown Royal bag. (R1-44:12). Detective Stachula observed the items inside the bag and believed them to be heroin. (R1-44:13). Stachula said the items later tested positive for heroin. (R1-44:14).

On June 14, 2013, Stachula observed surveillance video from Pet World for the previous day and observed a man matching the description provided by the informant walk into Pet World at 1:13 p.m. (R1-44:15). Stachula testified that the man had a tattoo on his right forearm. (R1-44:15). Stachula did not show the video to the informant. (R1-44:41).

The informant took a picture of the vehicle, which she provided to police. Stachula testified that the picture showed a Chevy Tahoe with Wisconsin license plate number 190 UNY. (R1-44:17). Stachula testified that he determined through the Wisconsin Department of Transportation's database that the license plate was registered to a female named Danaya Anderson who lived at 3360 North 48th Street in Milwaukee. (R1-44:17-18).

Stachula testified that he then conducted surveillance at the 48th Street residence, but did not observed the Tahoe. (R1-44:19). Stachula then emailed other police departments to ask if they made contact with the Tahoe or license plate 190 UNY. Milwaukee Police Detective Zimmerman responded that the vehicle received a parking

citation at 4460 North 52nd Street in Milwaukee on June 7, 2013. (R1-44:19-20).

On June 19, 2013, Stachula conducted surveillance outside the 52nd Street address at 11 a.m. and observed the Tahoe parked outside. (R1-44:21). Eventually, Stachula observed a black male exit the residence, enter the Tahoe and drive northbound on 52nd Street. (R1-44:21). Stachula testified that, although he confirmed the driver was a black male, he could not confirm it was the man viewed in the Pet World video. (R1-44:21). Stachula and other West Allis police officers followed the vehicle to 30th and Villard, where the vehicle parked and the driver exited. (R1-44:21). Stachula testified that he pulled within a car length of the Tahoe and identified a tattoo on the man's right forearm. (R1-44:22). Stachula said he was then able to identify the man as the man he observed in the Pet World video. (R1-44:22).

Stachula testified that the Tahoe was parked briefly at 30th and Villard, and he then lost track of it. (R1-44:23). Stachula returned to the 52nd Street residence and he saw the vehicle parked and the man walk into the residence. (R1-44:25). Five to ten minutes later, the man returned to the Tahoe and drove north on 52nd Street. (R1-

44:26). Stachula testified that he then contacted Milwaukee police and requested that they stop the Tahoe. (R1-44:27).

The Tahoe was stopped near 51st and Hampton. (R1-44:27). Stachula testified that he drove to the scene and identified the driver as the man he saw in the Pet World video. (R1-44:28).

Stachula testified that Milwaukee police used a drug-sniffing dog to search the exterior of the vehicle within one to two minutes after it was pulled over. (R1-44:59). Stachula said the dog alerted to the front driver's side area of the car. (R1-44:60). Stachula testified that Johnson was placed in a squad car while police searched the exterior of the car with the dog, and that Johnson told police he did not want to discuss the case until he consulted with a lawyer. (R1-58, 60).

Stachula testified that after the dog alerted to the front of the Tahoe, the car was transported to the West Allis Police Department and police obtained a warrant to search the car. (R1-44:66). The warrant was executed and heroin was seized from the car. (R1-44:67).

Johnson argued that the heroin seized from the Tahoe should be suppressed because law enforcement did not have probable cause to stop the Tahoe driven by Johnson, and the subsequent search warrant was therefore fruits of the improper arrest. (R1-44:83).

On March 24, 2014, the circuit court denied Johnson's motion to suppress. (R1-45:1-20). The circuit court found that police had probable cause to stop and arrest Johnson for possessing heroin in light of Detective Stachula's testimony regarding the information from the informant and Stachula's follow-up investigation. (R1-45:17).

II.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Whether there is probable cause to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 10, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. The circuit court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error, and how those facts are applied to constitutional principles are reviewed de novo. *Id.*

B. Analysis

The circuit court upheld stopping the vehicle driven by Johnson because it found the police had probable cause to suspect that Johnson was engaged in drug trafficking. Johnson therefore addresses only whether police had probable cause to arrest him; Johnson will address whether the police had reasonable suspicion to stop his car, and whether using a dog to sniff the exterior of the vehicle exceeded the scope of an investigatory stop, if the State makes that argument in its brief.

A warrantless arrest is unlawful unless supported by probable cause. *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 34, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26. Probable cause to arrest refers "to that quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest that would lead a reasonable law enforcement officer to believe" that the defendant was in possession of narcotics. *Id.* The burden is on the state to show it had probable cause to arrest." *Id.*

In determining whether probable cause exists, this Court examines the totality of the circumstances and considers whether the police had "facts and circumstances within his or her knowledge sufficient to warrant a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant ... committed or [was] in the process of committing an offense." *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis.2d 128, 148, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). The probable cause requirement "deals with probabilities" and must be sufficient "to lead a reasonable officer to believe that

guilt is more than a possibility." Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 35. This standard is case-specific: "the quantum of information which constitutes probable cause to arrest must be measured by the facts of the particular case." Id.

When police rely on information from an informant, this Court considers two factors to determine "whether officers acted reasonably in reliance on that information; the quality of information - which depends on the source's reliability, and the quantity or content of the information. State v. Miller, 2012 WI 61, ¶ 31, 341 Wis.2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349. "There is an inversely proportional relationship between the quality and the quantity of information required to reach the threshold of reasonable suspicion." Id. ¶ 32 The more reliable an informant, the less detail that is required "in the tip or police corroboration in order for police to rely on that information to conduct an investigatory stop." *Id.*, at ¶ 32. If the informant has limited reliability, "the tip must contain more significant details or future predictions along with police corroboration." When an informant's reliability is unknown to the police, law enforcement must independently corroborate the information provided by the informant to establish probable cause

to arrest a suspect. *See State v. McAttee*, 2001 WI App. 262, ¶ 12, 248 Wis.2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774.

Johnson was not stopped for a traffic violation, so his arrest must be justified because police had probable cause that he possessed heroin when they arrested him on June 19, 2013. The State is unable to meet its burden of proof.

First, the information Detective Stachula learned from the informant regarding the suspect's activities in the Chuck E. Cheese parking lot on June 13 was second-hand; Detective Stachula did not observe the suspect's activities himself. And no evidence was offered by the State that the citizen informant had previously provided reliable information; Detective Stachula's testimony did not demonstrate any prior communication between law enforcement and the citizen informant. Detective Stachula did not testify that law enforcement attempted to review the informant's credibility; for example, he did not indicate that police verified whether she had a criminal record. Further, the informant did not tell police that she bought or sold heroin from the driver of the vehicle. credibility was not established by statements against her penal interest. See State v. Romero, 2009 WI 32, ¶36, 317 Wis.2d 12, 765

N.W.2d 756 ("When a declarant makes statements against his penal interest that are closely related to the criminal activity being investigated, under circumstances providing the declarant with no apparent motive to speak dishonestly, such statements may be taken as establishing the declarant's credibility and thus his veracity.").

Detective Stachula did not verify with the informant whether the person he viewed in the video from Pet World was the person observed by the informant. The suspect's actions that Stachula viewed on the video were not incriminating or unusual, and did not provide any independent basis to believe the suspect was engaged in criminal activity. Further, the informant did not view the suspect with the bag she believed contained narcotics; the only link to the suspect and the bag was the proximity of the bag to the car. But the informant did not see the suspect drop the bag, and did not know whether the bag fell from the car or how long the bag was lying on the ground.

Detective Stachula was not able to link vehicle registration records for the vehicle identified by the informant to Johnson. Rather, the vehicle was registered to Danaya Anderson, who lived on North 48th Street.

By the time Stachula located the Chevy Tahoe parked outside a residence on North 52nd Street on June 19, 2013, six days had passed since the vehicle was seen in the Chuck E. Cheese parking And Johnson's actions, on June 19, did not provide police probable cause to arrest him. Detective Stachula followed Johnson from 52nd Street to 35th and Villard, where Johnson got out of his car, went into a business, and returned to his car and drove away a short time later. Stachula did not observe Johnson with any drugs, did not observe Johnson engage in any drug transaction, or even meet with anyone. Although Stachula suggested that the short duration of Johnson's trip could indicate drug dealing, he acknowledged that there could be "a hundred different explanations" for why Johnson drove to 35th and Villard and only stopped for five minutes. (R1-44:49).

To summarize, no witness saw Johnson possess any heroin, engage in any heroin transaction, and did not observe any heroin in the vehicle driven by Johnson. The only information to connect Johnson to heroin was that a bag, later determined to contain heroin, was found next to a car driven by Johnson in a public parking lot.

The totality of circumstances do not establish probable cause in light of the State's burden to justify the warrantless stop and arrest.

This case is similar to *State v. Kolk*, 2006 WI App. 261, 298 Wis.2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337, where the Court of Appeals held that police did not have reasonable suspicion to detain a suspect for possessing Oxycontin based on a citizen informant's tip. The informant told the Washington County Sheriff's Department that Kolk was on his way to Milwaukee to pick up Oxycontin. The informant -- who identified him- or herself and provided police with a date of birth, address, and phone number - had not previously provided information to the investigator. *Id.*, 2006 WI App. 261, ¶ 2. The informant described Kolk's physical appearance and the car he drove. *Id.*, ¶ 3.

Police drove past Kolk's house and observed the car described by the informant. The informant told police that Kolk had already been to Milwaukee, returned, and would leave for Madison that afternoon. *Id.* Police set up surveillance outside Kolk's house, and observed him get into his vehicle and drive north on Highway 175. *Id.*, ¶ 4. After Kolk exceeded the speed limit, police stopped him for speeding. *Id.*

During the traffic stop, police obtained consent to search Kolk's vehicle and frisked Kolk. *Id.*, ¶¶ 6-7. Police seized Oxycodone from the vehicle and from Kolk's pocket. *Id.*, ¶ 7.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order suppressing the Oxycodone from evidence because police did not have reasonable suspicion that Kolk possessed drugs. The Court noted that the informant did not tell police how he or she knew about the activities ascribed to Kolk. Id., ¶ 15. The Court also considered that the informant provided the police with Kolk's identity and described his vehicle, but that such information were "innocent details" that were "readily available" and did not "significantly bolster the reliability of the informant's claims." *Id.*, ¶ 16. The Court also noted that the informant's predictive information that Kolk would drive his vehicle "in a direction that would not preclude his being headed to Madison" was too general to support reasonable suspicion. *Id.*, ¶ 18. Finally, the Court observed that the informant did not report directly observing a crime: "the officers received a tip that neither demonstrated a basis of knowledge nor allowed for much significant corroboration." *Id.*, ¶ 19.

Similarly, the informant's tip at issue in this case did not provide any predictive information, and the informant did not observe the driver of the vehicle possess heroin. The corroborating details about the driver's physical appearance and license plate information were general and not, by themselves, incriminating. Further, as in *Kolk*, police were not able to corroborate the informant's suspicion that the driver of the Tahoe possessed drugs with any independent observation that Johnson possessed heroin.

The information provided by the informant in *Kolk* that did not justify reasonable suspicion is similar in quantity and quality to the information provided by the informant in this case. Given that this Court is reviewing under the more demanding standard of probable cause, *Kolk* directs that this Court reverse the circuit court's order denying Johnson's motion to suppress.

III.

CONCLUSION

Johnson asks the Court to reverse the circuit court's order denying Johnson's motion to suppress in Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF3747.

Johnson also asks the Court to vacate the judgments of conviction in Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case Nos. 2013CF3474 and 2013CF4393 and to direct the circuit court to allow Johnson to withdraw his guilty pleas in those cases. Although Johnson is not appealing from the circuit court's order denying his motion to suppress in Case No. 2013CF4393, Johnson asks the Court to allow him to withdraw his guilty plea in that case if he is allowed to withdraw his guilty plea in Case No. 2013CF3474 because the plea agreement between Johnson and the State contemplated that he would plead guilty to counts in both cases. If he is allowed to withdraw his guilty plea in one case, the plea agreement is no longer valid.