RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-19-2016

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2015AP1233-CR and 2015AP2260-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JIMMIE C. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CLARE FIORENZA, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JASON A. GORN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1092696

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The police had probable cause to arrest Johnson based on his apparent connection to the drugs recovered beside his SUV on June 13, 2013.

A. Applicable law and standard of review.

Review of a motion to suppress evidence involves a two-step analysis. $State\ v.\ Robinson,\ 2010\ WI\ 80,\ \P\ 22,\ 327$ Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (citations omitted). First, appellate courts will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous. Id. Next, the reviewing court will independently apply constitutional principles to those facts. Id.

The United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures, U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11. Wisconsin's constitutional provisions on searches and seizures are understood to be "coextensive" with the federal constitution. State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, ¶¶ 49-50, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted).

It is well established that an arrest is considered a "seizure" under the Fourth Amendment. *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 624 (1991). An officer may lawfully

conduct an arrest if the officer has probable cause to believe the arrestee has committed a criminal offense. *Atwater v. City of Lago Vista*, 532 U.S. 318, 354 (2001). A warrant is not required to arrest in a public place where probable cause exists. *Florida v. White*, 526 U.S. 559, 565-66 (1999).

Probable cause to arrest "is not that quantum of evidence which might later support a conviction." *Ball v. State*, 57 Wis. 2d 653, 659, 205 N.W.2d 353 (1973). Instead, it is "that quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." *Id.*; *see* Wis. Stat. § 968.07(1)(d).

Probable includes the totality the cause circumstances within police knowledge at the time of the arrest. State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 148, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). In addition, probable cause may be predicated upon hearsay and circumstantial evidence. See State v. Cheers, 102 Wis. 2d 367, 386, 391, 306 N.W.2d 676, 687 (1981). These circumstances are "to be judged by the factual and practical considerations of everyday life one which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act." State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d. 354, 360, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989).

B. Application of the law to the facts of this case.

Johnson argues that, when police arrested him, they seized him illegally because they did not have probable cause to arrest him. (Johnson's Br. 12-13.) Because of the alleged illegal seizure, Johnson contends that the circuit court should have suppressed the evidence seized from his SUV pursuant to a later search warrant. (*Id.* at 12, 20.)

In this case, the following factors demonstrate that police had probable cause to arrest Johnson:

- Police knew from J.T. that she recovered a bag of packaged heroin in a Chuck E. Cheese parking lot lying beside the driver's-side door of a parked Chevrolet Tahoe.
- Police knew from J.T.'s account that she saw a man later drive the Tahoe as its sole occupant. Shortly after J.T. recovered the bag of drugs, she saw the man come from Pet World and circle around the parking lot in the Tahoe. He also appeared to be looking for a lost item in the spot where she recovered the bag of drugs.
- Police matched J.T.'s physical description of the man with the man in the Pet World surveillance video and also saw the same man apparently searching for a lost item in the store.
- Police later located the Tahoe in Milwaukee with the license plate number that J.T. provided to police.
- Police saw a man, later identified as Johnson, enter the Tahoe alone and matched both J.T.'s report and the man in the surveillance video.
- Police observed a nexus of conduct consistent with drug distribution on the day they performed surveillance on Johnson's Tahoe.

On this record, the police had sufficient information, based on the totality of the circumstances, to lead them to reasonably believe that Johnson was involved in a crime. The police had sufficient information from an identified citizen informant to believe that Johnson possessed drugs and involvement in drug distribution was "more than a possibility." *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999).

With respect to information from citizen informants, probable cause to arrest may be based on hearsay information that is shown to be reliable and emanating from a credible source. *State v. McAttee*, 2001 WI App 262, ¶ 9, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W.2d 774. Information from an informant may supply probable cause to arrest if police know the informant and know the informant to be reliable. *Id.* Whether information from an informant is sufficient to establish probable cause to arrest depends on the totality of the circumstances, including the informant's "veracity, reliability, and basis of knowledge." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Courts recognize distinctions between citizen informants and police informants. *State v. Paszek*, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 630, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971). In contrast to many police informants, a citizen who reports a crime presumably acts out of a concern for public safety and presumably expects no personal gain from making the report. *Id.* Because of this, when examining police reliance on a citizen

informant, courts apply a "relaxed test of reliability," which shifts the focus from the personal reliability of the informant (the primary focus for police informants) to the informant's reliability in observing the particular events at issue (the primary focus for citizen informants). *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 36, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106.

This Court evaluates the reliability of a citizen informant by looking at "the nature of [the citizen's] report, his [or her] opportunity to hear and see the matters reported, and the extent to which it can be verified by independent police investigation." Paszek, 50 Wis. 2d at 631. This evaluation is a "safeguard" intended to ensure the reliability of information provided by a citizen informant. Allison v. State, 62 Wis. 2d 14, 22, 214 N.W.2d 437 (1974). Police verification is not strictly required; it is simply one of the ways to ensure a "sufficient safeguard." Id. at 22-23.

Here, an independent and named citizen informant, J.T., revealed to police that a man driving a Chevrolet Tahoe, next to which she found a bag of drugs, appeared to be searching for a lost item near the Tahoe. These were not bare-bones tips. Rather, J.T. provided the actual bag of drugs to police that contained heroin individually packaged for sale. J.T. also provided a photo of the Tahoe's license plate and a description of the man that the Pet World surveillance camera corroborated.

Detective Stachula testified that J.T. had given him detailed background information that included the man's race, height, weight, and clothing and said he appeared to have come from Pet World. Detective Stachula's review of Pet World's surveillance video showed a man matching J.T.'s description. Also notable, the video showed a nexus to similar conduct that J.T. described in the parking lot—the same man that J.T. described as circling the parking lot was also in the video apparently "looking for something inside the store that wasn't being sold" beside a Pet World trash can. (15AP1233 44:16.)

Detective Stachula also verified and corroborated J.T.'s tip in the field by matching the Tahoe to an address listed in a traffic ticket that led him to its location. There, he saw the same man from Pet World get into the Tahoe and drive away. A few days after J.T.'s report, Detective Stachula pursued the Tahoe and observed conduct consistent with drug distribution based on his training and experience.

Thus, Detective Stachula knew that J.T. was a credible and reliable informant, because J.T. had provided him with accurate and corroborated information. *See State v. Kolk*, 2006 WI App 261, ¶ 13, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337. The information that J.T. provided was corroborated enough—and matched Johnson's description enough—to give rise to probable cause to arrest Johnson. A reasonable

officer would conclude that Johnson's involvement in a crime was more than a possibility. *See State v. Kutz*, 2003 WI App. 205, ¶ 11, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660.

Johnson argues that no probable cause existed for his arrest because police had no evidence that he actually possessed any heroin. (Johnson's Br. 17.) Johnson's argument is not tethered to the proper inquiry. Wisconsin courts do not require the fact of actual possession to support probable cause. See Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d at 217-18. In Secrist, the supreme court held that the odor of marijuana may provide probable cause to arrest. Id. In making the determination of probable cause, the court reiterated, "probable cause eschews technicality and legalisms in favor of a 'flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." Id. at 215 (citation omitted). In short, Johnson's call for actual possession rings hollow where even an odor of a controlled substance may suffice to show probable cause.

Johnson also challenges the reliability of J.T.'s tips to police by analogizing the facts of this case to Kolk where the court found a citizen informant's tip was not reliable. Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 19. (Johnson's Br. 18-20.) Johnson first argues that J.T. failed to provide officers with any predictive information that might increase her reliability. But the court in Kolk clearly held that predictive information is not necessary for information to be reliable but instead is an indicia of reliability. Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 18.

Moreover, in the absence of "predictive information," an informant's "direct observation" of a crime "can provide reason to believe that the tipster has truthful and accurate information." *Id.* at ¶ 19. Here, the basis of J.T.'s knowledge was direct: she found a bag of heroin lying beside Johnson's Tahoe. Johnson's criticism of J.T.'s other "general" tips such as Johnson's physical appearance and license plate does not make her statement incredible. Instead, the bag of heroin that J.T. brought to police indicates a first-hand knowledge of the events she told police and supports the criminal activity that she observed. The ability of police to later corroborate Johnson's suspicious conduct when presumably trying to retrieve his missing heroin at Pet World bolstered her statement. J.T.'s tips were also more credible after police observed Johnson's suspicious drug-related conduct several days later at the 52nd Street address. Accordingly, J.T.'s tips were reliable and this Court should affirm Johnson's conviction.

In summary, police had ample probable cause to arrest Johnson based on J.T.'s tips and their observations. Johnson is not entitled to suppression based on an illegal arrest.

CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm Johnson's judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying Johnson's motion to suppress evidence.